# The development and testing of a communication skills training intervention for healthcare professionals caring for people with dementia in acute hospitals

## Protocol V1.0

Sponsor: Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust Chief Investigator: Professor Rowan Harwood Funder: NIHR HS&DR Research Ethics Committee Ref: outstanding.

## CONTENTS

1	Summary of Research	2
2	Background and Rationale	3
3	Evidence explaining why this research is needed now	4
4	Aims and objectives	5
5	Research methods	6
6	Dissemination and project outputs	11
7	Plan of investigation and timetable	12
8	Project management	13
9	Approval by ethics committee	13
10	Patient and public involvement	14
	Reference	15
	Appendix 1 Flow chart	21
	Appendix 2 Gantt chart	22

## 1. SUMMARY OF RESEARCH

#### Background:

This proposal aims to develop and then test a communication skills training intervention for health care practitioners (HCPs) caring for people with dementia (PWD) in acute hospitals. There are increasing numbers of PWD in acute hospital beds, and improving the quality of care they receive is a priority for the NHS following the Francis Report. Communication problems between staff and people with dementia are likely to be a key barrier to effective healthcare. The challenges of communicating with PWD in acute settings have not been fully explored so there is a need for some exploratory research on the linguistics, context, and facilitators that overcome some of the communication challenges commonly experienced between HCPs and PWD. This can then form the basis for the development of a communication skills training intervention specifically for HCPs working in acute hospitals caring for PWD.

#### Aims:

This research aims to develop and test a communication training intervention for healthcare professionals (HCPs) caring for people with dementia (PWD) in acute hospitals. Improved HCPs communication skills will reduce distress and challenging behaviour, improve dignity and patient experience and their inclusion in decision making.

The specific objectives are to:

1. Analyse the structure of communication patterns used by HCPs communicating with PWD in the acute hospital environment

2. Identify the communication skills that overcome the challenges of interacting with people with dementia in this setting

3. Train actors to simulate the communication of a person with dementia in this setting, in order to support the training and assessment of HCPs

4. Develop a new intervention to effectively teach these communication skills to HCPs

5. Pilot the intervention to establish effectiveness on intermediate outcomes measures (self-rated competence and confidence) and objective blindly-assessed skills using videoed simulated communication encounters and the usability and acceptability of the training intervention.

#### Setting:

The research will take place in two hospitals. The initial data collection and analysis of communication between HCPs and PWD will take place on Health Care of Older People (HCOP) wards of a large teaching hospital. The evaluation of the communication skills training intervention will take place in two large acute hospitals.

#### Design:

Work Package 1. Identification of Good Communication Skills (12 months): We will use Conversation Analysis (CA), supplemented by observations, to analyse the structure of communication patterns used by HCPs to communicate with PWD in the acute hospital environment. The aim will be to identify the communication skills that overcome some of the challenges of communicating with PWD in this setting. Interactions between HCPs and PWD will be video-recorded and transcribing to give up to 400 minutes of data. Applied CA will be used to reveal systematic patterns in the interactions between HCPs and PWD, and identify the practices that HCPs use in effectively addressing some of the challenges of interacting, for example, improving understanding, reducing resistance to care, easing distress.

Work Package 2. Intervention Development (6 months): From the results of Work Package 1 we will develop a communication skills training intervention which can be realistically implemented across acute trusts. Members of the research team have experience of developing similar interventions for communication training in other areas of healthcare. We will draw on this expertise, as well as the expertise of carers of PWD and established knowledge about good practice in communication training. The intervention will include the use of simulated interaction and online e-learning resources (Reusable Learning Object, RLO) with commentaries from patients and carers and real life excerpts of successful communications.

Work Package 3. Intervention Testing (9 months): The intervention will be tested on 40 HCPs in two acute hospitals using a before and after design. HCPs self-assessed competence and confidence in communicating with PWD will be measured using a purpose-built scale prior to training, immediately after training and at 4-

week follow-up. The communication behaviours of HCPs will be videoed before the training and at follow-up, and will be objectively assessed using blind-rating by two independent raters (including researchers and carers).

The flowchart in Appendix 1 shows the overall design of the study, and how these Work Packages relate to one another.

### Potential Outputs and Impacts:

The main output from this research is a standardised training intervention and associated training manual and RLO. In addition, we will produce briefing material and resources for actors to support their simulation of dementia patients. Finally, knowledge about effective HCP communication behaviours when caring for PWD will also be generated, which could be used to help develop further interventions to support quality care for PWD.

## 2. BACKGROUND AND RATIONALE

A quarter of people in acute hospital beds have dementia [1]. A key barrier to effective healthcare in acute hospitals is the problem of communication between staff and people with dementia (PWD). Communication impairments associated with dementia include difficulties with word finding, repetition of thoughts and lack of coherence in their own speech, and difficulty understanding the language of others, with potential progression to a state where no intelligible speech is used [2]. These communication and cognitive disabilities are likely to be aggravated by admission to hospital for acute care because of the unfamiliar environment which is noisy, busy, with lots of new faces, and a communication model based on intensive and repeated questioning. Whilst there is a national drive to ensure older people are treated closer to home wherever possible, there will remain a need for acute hospital admission for the acute ailments that commonly affect older people.

Improving the quality of hospital care for this growing population is a national priority [3]. PWD have poorer outcomes in hospital compared to those without dementia [4], which evidence from elsewhere suggests may be partly due to communication difficulties; for example, communication impairments increase the probability of preventable adverse events [5], increases length of stay, results in poorer functional outcome and institutionalisation in stroke patients [6,7,8].

Relatives report that ineffective communication in hospitals is associated with a lack of inclusion of patients, and a lack of dignity and respect shown to them [9]. Poor communication by staff despite their best intentions can be perceived as intimidation, imposition, ignoring, accusation and disparagement [10]. Staff also experience the stress and reduced job satisfaction that comes from difficulty in communicating with their patients with dementia [11,12,13].

The importance of communication between hospital staff and patients has been highlighted in policy and practice guidelines in recent years. The role of improved communication in reducing errors and improving patient care has been underlined by the Bristol Royal Infirmary Inquiry [14] and the report 'Building a Safer NHS for Patients' [15], both of which recommended communication skills training for HCPs. The importance of nursing staff regularly engaging with their patients in 'constructive and friendly interactions' was emphasized in the Francis Inquiry [16]. The government's initial response to Francis, "Patients First and Foremost", includes a commitment to "listen most carefully to those whose voices are weakest and find it hardest to speak for themselves", and commits to improving education and training on dementia, and ensuring that all healthcare provider training includes a strong emphasis on 'frail older people' [17].

To date there has been no research to look at the impact of communication skills training for staff in acute hospital settings working with PWD [18]. There is a body of practical expertise amongst mental health professionals but little systematic study of the linguistics, context, and facilitators or otherwise of successful communication with people with dementia. Some of these can be predicted – like ensuring adequate hearing, and reducing distraction or ambient noise, but these may not be within the control of the HCP and elements such as successful use of body language or turn-taking can be difficult to describe. Therefore there is a need for some fundamental research on how to overcome some of the communication challenges that are commonly experienced when HCPs interact with PWD in a hospital setting.

The proposed research aims to fill this gap by developing and then testing a communication skills training intervention for health care practitioners (HCPs) caring for people with dementia (PWD) in acute hospitals. It will describe and analyse the range of current communication practice in one setting, and develop and test the

proof of concept for a training package for HCPs in communication using simulation and online resources to achieve effective and efficient knowledge transfer for NHS staff.

Improving the communication skills of the healthcare professional through an evidence-based intervention is expected to improve the interaction between staff and patient, thus enabling the person with dementia to:

- participate more fully in their care, including engaging in decision making;
- have less distress and fear during their stay, including reduced resistance to care;
- and enabling the healthcare professional to feel better equipped to deal with the challenges of communicating with people with dementia during everyday healthcare tasks.

## 3. EVIDENCE EXPLAINING WHY THIS RESEARCH IS NEEDED NOW

The ability to communicate sensitively and to achieve meaningful interaction is one of the core principles for supporting people with dementia [19]. The National Minimum Standards for healthcare support workers and adult social care workers in England also include "effective communication" [20]. Therefore, by developing and testing the concept of a communication skills training intervention for HCPs working with people with dementia in an acute hospital setting, this research contributes to an explicit, current need by the NHS and one which will be a sustained area of interest in the longer-term.

There is evidence from reviews of communication skills training interventions for healthcare workers that skills can be improved [21,22,23], but the evidence for their impact on patient health outcomes is currently equivocal [24]. A systematic review of communication skills training in dementia care identified twelve studies but none was based in acute hospital settings or involved the training of doctors [18]. Six of the interventions were delivered in the patient's own home, with a tendency to be delivered one to one, with a focus on individualised training of the carer, and therefore not generalisable to the hospital staff setting. The other six interventions were delivered in care home settings, with extremely variable duration, from a total of three hours training [25] up to 15 hours training plus two weeks supervised working [26]. Those care home studies which used questionnaire and observational measures showed positive effects on knowledge, skills and attitudes of trained staff, but outcome measures used were inconsistent and interventions and recommended communication techniques were not always clearly defined.

The literature gives some guidance on what the content of communication skills training in dementia care might include e.g. eliminating distractions, simple sentences [27,28,29], though the communication strategies recommended to caregivers for use with PWD may not always be based on empirical research. Small et al (2003) [27] reviewed this literature and identified 10 recurring strategies, of which they found only three strategies impacted positively on observed communication breakdowns between family caregivers and PWD, (eliminating distractions, simple sentences, yes/no questions). One strategy (slowed speaking rate) resulted in more breakdowns. Despite slowed speech being found to be unhelpful in a number of other studies [29, 30) and to be disliked by older people [31] a slow speaking rate is still recommended in a number of current guidelines [32, 33]. The usefulness of 'yes/no' (closed) questions for communication success is consistent with other findings [2], but open questions have also been found to be useful for facilitating personal conversations about feelings and concerns in PWD [34]. Sentence comprehension in the PWD has been found to be assisted by limiting utterances to one proposition [35], paraphrasing and verbatim repetitions [29]. When presented with vignettes, nurses perceive carers who use simplified language as less patronising and perceive the PWD as more competent [36]. Critical communications from caregivers has been found to predict negative behaviours in PWD over time [37], and so positive and affirming communications may be recommended [38].

Whilst this literature gives some guidance on what the content of communication skills training for communication partners of PWD might include, none of the evidence comes directly from the general hospital context, nor from communication partners other than family and nurses or carers. However, these strategies remain untested in acute hospitals, and no single training intervention can be identified which could be trialled directly with a mixed group of HCPs in this context. The acute hospital is very different from a care home setting as a communication context because:

- greater variety of staff groups interact regularly with patients
- the PWD is often acutely ill, with increased risk of added delirium and pain
- information related to the acute illness needs to be elicited from the PWD to inform the management plan.
- the PWD is experiencing an unfamiliar place, people and situation, increasing their disorientation
- the environment is noisy, busy and more difficult to control than other settings

To develop an effective communication skills training intervention for interacting with PWD in acute hospitals, we now need a better understanding of what works in this setting through basic research to explore the communication challenges and how they can be overcome [39]. There is evidence that the communication strategies that communication partners thought were effective, when examined in more detailed analysis, have been shown to lead to no improvement in communication breakdowns (eg. paraphrasing, asking only one question, approaching slowly) or even to make things worse( eg. slowed speech) [27], suggesting that even seeking expert [carer/ patient / professional] opinion may not be adequate for the planning of the most effective training. Therefore, recommended attitudes, techniques and approaches should not simply be based on what is assumed to be best practice, but on what has as far as possible been demonstrated through analysis of interactions.

Conversation Analysis (CA) is a well-established qualitative method for the analysis of social interaction and communication [40,41,42] which has been used to develop successful communication skills training interventions in fields such as stroke [43], psychosis [44,45], and primary care [46]. For example, in the stroke field, the recommended 'Supported Conversation' approach to training healthcare staff and volunteers to communicate better with people with aphasia [47] was based on a piece of fundamental empirical work which used Conversation Analysis to compare the communication of videoed volunteers, rated as better or worse than others [48]. From this work they were able to characterise the skills needed for communicating with people with aphasia around the concepts of 'revealing competence' and 'acknowledging competence', and the training emerging from this has been found to be effective in several small trials [49,50]. Conversation analysis of outpatient consultations between psychiatrists and clients expressing delusional views has demonstrated how the alternative approaches taken by the psychiatrists can lead to a change in client responses and thus to more or less constructive consultations [44,45]. The investigator has then used this knowledge to develop a training intervention that is being tested in an NIHR funded pilot study (RfPB). CA has also shown that different communication approaches might be more effective at different times. For example, in conversations about advanced decisions and end of life CA has shown that a direct approach from HCPs is harder for the client to deflect and is required when an immediate decision is needed, whereas more easily deflected indirect approaches are more appropriate when end of life decisions can be raised with more patient-led timing [51] The existing literature therefore supports the use of fundamental research using CA to collect data about communication between HCPs and PWD in the hospital setting, and to use this data to develop a training intervention for HCPs interacting with PWD.

Research suggests that communication skills are not something that improve through experience alone [52]. Consultation and communication skills can be acquired and retained with appropriate teaching, and leads participants to report greater confidence in their communication with patients following training [53,54,55]. For training to be effective it needs to be practical, with opportunities to practice and receive feedback [24,39,56]. Transferring learned communication skills to clinical practice happens best when courses contain role-play with simulated patients, structured constructive feedback and discussion led by a trained facilitator [53,54,55]. The main output of this research will be a training intervention incorporating these features and including a re-usable learning object (RLO) to maximise the transfer of skills into practice.

## 4. AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

This research aims to develop and test a communication skills training intervention for healthcare professionals (HCPs) caring for people with dementia (PWD) in acute hospitals. Improved HCPs communication skills will reduce distress and challenging behaviour, improve dignity and patient experience and their inclusion in decision making. The objectives are to:

1. Analyse the structure of communication patterns used by HCPs communicating with PWD in the acute hospital environment

2. Identify the communication skills that overcome the challenges of interacting with people with dementia in this setting

3. Train actors to simulate the communication of a person with dementia in this setting, in order to support the training and assessment of HCPs

4. Develop a new intervention to effectively teach these communication skills to HCPs

5. Pilot the intervention to establish effectiveness on intermediate outcomes measures (self-rated competence and confidence), and objective blindly-assessed skills (by researchers and carers) using videoed simulated communication encounters and the usability and acceptability of the training intervention.

Work Package 1 of the research is descriptive and will address the first two objectives. It will use Conversation Analysis (CA) to explore the communication and interactions between HCPs and PWD. The aim is to analyse how recommendations for good practice are implemented and operationalised; and analyse episodes where there are challenges to their operationalisation (agitation or distress, off-topic contributions from patient, resistance to care) and the ways these challenges are effectively managed.

Work Package 2 of the research is developmental and will address the third and fourth objectives. Working with carers we will use the evidence from Phase 1 to develop an intervention in communication skills for HCPs which will use simulation with trained actors and include an online training element. We are aiming to develop an intervention that can be realistically implemented across the NHS modelled on communication skills training used in palliative care, and with both didactic and practical elements.

Work Package 3 will address the fifth objective, and evaluate the communication skills training package through a before and after study. This design has been chosen as an efficient research design for detecting changes in competence and confidence in communication in HCPs at this stage of the development of this complex intervention, i.e. theory building and proof of concept testing. Before and after design will allow a lot of between-individual variation (prior experience, personality, accent, knowledge, native interpersonal skills, etc) to be controlled for. The usability and acceptability of the intervention will also be assessed through qualitative interviews with HCPs and ward managers. This work will be a platform for further development and setting of appropriate research questions.

Given the high prior probability that communication training will be beneficial to healthcare interactions, if our programme is successful in improving intermediate outcomes we may not necessarily need further evaluation to recommend implementation. A future research agenda might however include a ward-level cluster RCT looking at patient-level outcomes, such as distress and resistance to care, using a direct observational method such as dementia care mapping. Such a trial would be large and expensive, and we would need to determine the value of this further information.

## 5. RESEARCH METHODS

#### Work Package 1: Identification of Good Communication Skills

#### Update to Systematic Review

As a first step, we will update the existing systematic review on communication skills training in dementia care [18]. This review, published in 2013, examined studies that were published up to January 2010. We will use the same search strategy to identify studies published since January 2010, review their methods and findings, and describe any changes to the results and conclusions of the original review in light of this.

#### Design and Theoretical/conceptual framework

Work Package 1 will use Conversation Analysis (CA), supplemented by observations, to analyse the structure of communication patterns used by HCPs to communicate with PWD in the acute hospital environment, and identify the communication skills that overcome some of the challenges of communicating with PWD in this setting.

Whilst recognising the difficulty of defining 'good communication' prior to conducting detailed analysis of actual communication episodes, we propose to use as a starting point the available professional guidance and recommendations. These general recommendations include:

- 1) Treating patients as if they are competent to participate in conversations about their care and treating their contributions as meaningful even where this meaning is obscure
- 2) Avoiding focusing on patient's limitations of competence where this is not necessary for the task in hand [57].
- 3) Eliciting patients' views and preferences using practices already known to maximally encourage patients' contributions and engagement [58,59,60]
- 4) Scaffolding patients' contributions, providing assistance to them to complete the communication task [61,62].
- 5) Using Dementia Care Mapping categories of good communication and interaction behaviours: warmth, holding, relaxed pace, respect, acceptance, celebration, acknowledgement, genuineness, validation, empowerment, facilitation, enabling, collaboration, recognition, including, belonging, fun [63]

Having synthesised the core of good communication from current guidelines and literature we will then use the data to elucidate this and to allow for expansion/amendment.

The use of video recordings of the communication between HCPs and PWD, rather than interviews, is required to help identify these 'good' communication practices. No matter how expert, neither patients/family members nor HCPs find it easy to articulate the tacit knowledge they use when communicating, but video-based research can specify such knowledge and skills. Conversation Analysis (CA) is a well-established qualitative method for the analysis of social interaction and communication [40,41,42] in order to identify the features of effective communication practices in specific healthcare scenarios. It has been used to develop successful communication skills training interventions in fields such as stroke [43,49], psychosis [44,45], and primary care [46]. Observation methods have been used alongside CA to elucidate the context in which talk takes place [64].

We will harness the potential of video-based research by using CA to classify verbal and non-verbal practices and patterns within healthcare interactions involving experienced clinical communicators; analyse how the broad recommendations for good practice actually get implemented and operationalised; and analyse episodes where there are challenges to their operationalization (aggression, lack of any topically meaningful contribution from patient) and the ways these challenges are managed.

The research team has experience of using video recordings with PWD and is familiar with the ethical requirements and considerations for both patients, carers and HCPs [65].

#### Setting/context

This Work Package will take place in eight Health Care of Older People (HCOP) wards in a large acute hospital. Communication events between HCPs and PWD are prevalent on these Wards. We will use CA to identify the structure of communication practices between HCPs (doctors, nurses and Allied Health Professionals (AHPs)) and people with dementia (PWD) in the context of a wide range of interactions in the hospital setting.

#### Sampling

We will oversample interactions between HCPs and PWD to generate a large collection of conversation data and then sample within this for the actual analysis. To achieve this, we will recruit up to 40 patients with dementia and up to 20 HCPs on the HCOP wards. We estimate that this will allow us to collect up to 40 conversations, between 200 and 400 minutes of data which will include thousands of conversational turns or communication behaviours. Conversation analysts will search through these rapidly to retrieve particular episodes that cover the variety of challenges that arise during interactions with PWD including problems of understanding, responses to off topic talk, agitated responses from patients, resistance to treatment or healthcare activities etc.

To obtain data from patients with a range of abilities, we will ask nurses working on the wards to assess patients' levels of cognitive impairment as either mild, moderate or severe, and sample across all three levels. Inclusion criteria will be: a diagnosis of dementia in their past medical history on admission; some difficulties communicating with staff experienced; patients are known to be a fluent English speaker. Patients will be excluded if they have Parkinson's disease, and are not a fluent English speaker.

#### **Recruitment and Data Collection**

We will adapt protocols for recruitment, consent and data collection that we have used in our previous studies in dementia settings [66] and in our previous video-research studies [24,39,43] – these are protocols that have been developed with user input, which have been found appropriate by NHS research ethics committees, and which have resulted in data collection for studies that have been successfully completed [67].

Many patients will not have capacity to give informed consent. The researcher will assess whether the patient participant has capacity to consent to take part (following the requirements of the Mental Capacity Act 2005). Where possible, a family member or informal carer will be sought and contacted in person or by telephone to explain the study and arrange a meeting. If the patient participant has capacity to consent, permission will be sought to contact the carer first.

Information sheets will be given. For patient participants who have capacity, informed consent will be taken. If the patient does not have capacity, 'consultee agreement' will be sought from an informal carer.

We will recruit any HCPs (doctors, nurses, allied health professionals) working in the HCOP wards who communicate with PWD as part of their work on the wards. We will aim to achieve an equal spread across these categories of HCPs. Recruitment of HCPs will be done in advance of PWD recruitment. HCPs on each ward will be informed of the study and asked to consider if they would be willing to participate in the study and have future encounters with PWD video-recorded. If they consent in advance, they will be reminded of their right to withdraw consent immediately prior to an interaction with a consenting PWD being video-recorded.

Ward staff will be asked which PWDs are appropriate to approach to recruit to the study and will make the initial approach. Researchers will use communication aids and supports to explain what we want to do in the study i.e. show the PWD the camera and clipboard and where the researcher might sit. A baseline communication screening tool (language items from the Addenbrookes Cognitive Examination (ACE-iii) [68] will be completed for each participating PWD to assess and describe their language ability.

Interactions between HCPs and PWDs will be video recorded. To identify possible interactions for recording, we will talk to ward staff at the beginning of each day to see what interactions are expected to occur during the day e.g. an OT is due to visit patient X about coping at home, the consultant will be talking to patient Y). We will record a wide-range of interactions which can be classified according to either the clinical tasks or the social actions being performed. For example, for social actions, we would classify an interaction as greetings, seeking and providing information, troubles telling and reception, making requests/invitations/proposals, making and responding to announcements and reports, giving/receiving/rejecting advice, disagreements/arguments, topic changing, closing conversations, and dealing with troubles of hearing/speaking/understanding. This is in preference to focusing on one type of interaction (e.g. discharge discussions) which may limit the range of patients and staff who could be included in the sample, as well as the scenarios encountered in this setting. We will video record up 40 patient-HCP encounters, each approximately 5-10 minutes in length, yielding up to 400 minutes of data.

A researcher will set up the equipment to video record the discussion or conversation. A camera with a wide angle lens will maximise capture, and will be pre-positioned using a pole and clamp and remotely connected to a microphone worn by the HCP. To maintain anonymity, any patient names visible to the camera will be covered up in advance of the recording. A remote stop/start control will be provided to participating HCPs. To minimise intrusiveness, the researcher will avoid looking through the camera. Recordings will be digitised and stored according to University data protection policy and as required by ethics/R&D. Each encounter will be allocated a code to indicate the patient and HCP whilst maintaining anonymity.

Observational field notes on each interaction, and before and after each interaction, will also be recorded by the researcher to identify any contextual events that may have influenced the interaction. The observations will also be used to clarify practical procedures for audio and video data collection, to acclimatise participants to presence of researchers in a less threatening mode than cameras. This data will also provide some insights into the effects of recording on behaviours in this particular environment. This would add to bodies of knowledge already available in this matter, and again will feed into design of data collection so as to maximise validity of data we collect.

#### Data Analysis

Applied CA will be used to reveal recurrent and systematic patterns in the interactions between HCPs and PWD, considering both linguistic and interactional features. We will focus on the range of practices that HCPs use in addressing some of the challenges of interacting with PWD and identify those that are effective in, for example, improving understanding, reducing resistance to care, easing distress. The method is not traditional CA, but is best referred to as 'applied' CA, since it is motivated by a clinical problem - the identification and need to train good staff communication skills when interacting with PWD.

The aim is to distil and generalise a profile of 'good' communication behaviour, from an initial analysis of individual staff and patient interactions, using as a starting point the available professional guidance and recommendations, thus reflecting generic good practice not just individual style. Furthermore, we will analyse episodes where there are challenges to the operationalization of good communication (agitation or distress,

off-topic contributions from patient, resistance to care) and the ways these challenges are effectively managed. This method is well established and has proved influential in the field of doctor-patient interaction [69,70].

Observations of the same interactions will be used to collect secondary data that is not able to be captured in the video recording. Field notes will be analysed to identify, for example, the behaviours of the HCPs and PWD, the context within which the interaction occurred, any interruptions to the encounter or distractions, any events on the Ward that may have a bearing on the interaction such as recent staff rotations, increased levels of noise etc.

Recordings will be digitised using Adobe Premiere, transcribed verbatim, anonymised, and analysed using CA. The approach, used successfully in our previous studies [39,43,57], follows three stages:

- 1. All recordings will be viewed/listened to rapidly in conjunction with their verbatim transcripts, produced by a professional transcriber. The goal is to identify all occasions where particular episodes that cover the variety of challenges that arise during interactions with PWD including problems of understanding, responses to off topic talk, agitated patients, resistance to treatment or healthcare activities etc. The researchers will then produce detailed transcripts of these sections, using a notation system for recording features of speech (e.g. emphasis, pauses, overlapping talk, laughter). We will also transcribe aspects of body movement. ELAN software will facilitate data management.
- 2. This full collection of cases will be examined to identify different strategies used by the clinicians to overcome challenges in communicating with PWD (e.g. agitation, misunderstanding, resistance to care, off-topic contributions). Close attention will be paid to patterns of similarity and difference (e.g. in words or phrases used).
- 3. Patients' responses to the strategies will be compared to identify any patterns (e.g. some strategies may typically be met with minimal responses, others might typically result in extensive engagement in discussions by patients). Focusing on details of talk and body movement (including pauses, markers of agreement/disagreement, touch and gaze), then at a late stage counting frequencies of different patterns and responses, our aim will be to see whether some strategies are more effective at engaging patients in healthcare tasks.

Analysis will draw on relevant evidence generated by other observational studies [42,47,57,70], as a means of increasing validity and generalisability of findings. We will use the findings to generate recommendations for practice, for example, if one form of clinician talk systematically meets with minimal responses by patients/family members, while another meets with engagement, this provides evidence to support the implementation of the latter. Procedures to verify and augment findings will include analysis sessions with experienced researchers, dementia clinicians and user representatives, using raw or disguised data according to consents [71].

#### Work Package 2: Intervention Development Design and Theoretical/conceptual framework

From the results of Work Package 1 we will develop a communication skills training intervention which can be realistically implemented across acute trusts. An initial framework is provided by similar interventions for staff working with patients with other communication impairments [49,50,72] and relevant reviews [24,39].

The techniques of role modelling, skill practice and feedback are all supported by social learning theory as leading to better learning of communication skills [73]. The use of 'simulated' or 'standardized' patients (SPs) allows these techniques to be used in the communication training of HCPs, with training provided to the actors to enable an illness or scenario to be presented in a relatively standardized manner [74]. Whilst there is a cost incurred in the use of professional actors, they allow for more realistic, experiential and controlled learning than would be possible with volunteers or trainee peers [75]. Comparison studies have found SPs to have high authenticity, good accuracy and consistency over time [76] and trainee preference with similar outcomes [74].

In the proposed study, it is anticipated that professional actors will be required because of the level of skill and consistency required for both the interactive practical training sessions and the pre and post training outcome assessments. The actors will require specific training in the communication behaviours of people with dementia, including their likely responses to a given range of communication behaviours from HCPs, based on the Phase 1 empirical findings. The coaching of SPs is a well-developed field, particularly in medical

training. Guidelines suggest that good training of actors requires key communication behaviours to be first identified, key elements of cases decided and then scripts developed and piloted. Training manuals for actors then need to be prepared and actors trained and assessed carefully, prior to implementation in the 'field' [77]. Therefore, as part of Work Package 2, we will develop guidance, alongside actors, on understanding the cognitive and communication impairments, how they impact on interactions, and behavioural responses (including being overwhelmed or misunderstanding). This training of the professional actors is an integral part of this proposed programme of research. The actors in this project will be involved in the planning of training materials to be used for future actors, so that the training can be disseminated following completion of the programme. It is envisaged that the actors in this project may benefit from access to the full transcripts, the results of the analysis and possibly to the original video footage, if ethical approval was obtained for this. Access for the research actor to the ward environment for observation will also assist with the development of the actor training package.

The design of the intervention and accompanying materials will be based on the findings of Work Package 1 and draw on our team's expertise and established knowledge about good practice in communication training, including the use of simulated interaction [78] and the expertise of carers. The resources will incorporate video clips of actor simulations, alongside detailed transcripts and written text briefly summarising the communication strategies, making teaching suggestions, and summarising learning points. They will be designed for use by communication trainers during their face-to-face staff training events, but we will also develop an online training resource or a Reusable Learning Object (RLO) including patient and carer video recorded commentaries to support and reinforce the training. Members of the team have experience of developing such materials for communication training in other areas of healthcare [67].

The outcome measures to assess communication behaviour change in HCPs in Work Package 3 will be developed during Work Package 2. These will take the form of frequency counts of a small number of specific communication behaviours which were identified in Work Package 1 as effective in interacting with PWD.

#### Work Package 3: Intervention Testing Design and Theoretical/conceptual framework

The intervention will be tested through a proof of concept study to establish effectiveness on intermediate outcomes using a before and after design [79,80] to assess changes in self-assessed competence and confidence, and communication behaviours, in HCPs who have completed the training intervention. Outcomes will be objectively-assessed competence (assed by researchers and carers) using blind-ratings of videoed simulated communication encounters and self-assessed confidence and competence. This design has been successfully used to evaluate Supported Conversation Training for adults with aphasia [49], and dementia communication skills training in nursing homes [25,81,82].

## Sampling

We have not calculated a sample size to detect a particular effect as the purpose of the study is to establish proof of concept rather than testing effectiveness [83]. However, we estimate that it will be feasible to train 40 HCPs over a 9-month period taking into account staff rotas and release from the wards. Other studies using a before and after design [33] have had similar sample sizes ranging from 15 to 38 [25,81,82].

#### Setting/context

The intervention will be carried out in two acute hospitals.

#### Data Collection

The main outcome measures will be self-assessed competence and confidence, which will be assessed at baseline (prior to training), immediately post-training (at the end of the training course) and at follow-up (4 weeks post-training). Self-assessed competence and confidence in communicating with PWD will be measured using a purpose-built scale. This approach has been used by similar studies as skills the taught will be very specific to communication and not able to be assessed using standardised tools [84,85].

In addition, we will pilot a count measure approach to two or three specific communication behaviours to assess change in these. We will assess both the presence of positive behaviours that we have identified as facilitators, and the absence of negative behaviours that act as barriers to communicating with PWD. Video data from each HCP completing the training will be collected both pre-training and at follow-up (4 weeks post-

intervention) during interactions with actors simulating PWD. Instances of the communication behaviours in these video data will be coded by two independent raters (who will be researchers and carers and who are blind to the pre- or post-intervention status of the data). The behaviours will be selected on the basis of their identification as important communication behaviours (both positive and negative) in Work Package 1, their place in the training intervention, and their salience to independent raters observing them. Coding guidelines will be developed to allow behaviours to be coded, and two independent raters trained to carry out the coding [86]. Inter-rater reliability will be assessed using 20% of the video data. Following any additional training requirements that are identified, the raters will assess the remaining video data. A coding and counting process based on behaviours previously identified using CA has been used successfully as a measure of conversation partner training in post-stroke aphasia [87,88], and in doctor-patient interaction [70].

Interviews with ward managers and HCPs (n=16) will examine the acceptability and experience of the training, their perceptions of its effectiveness, barriers or facilitators in transferring skills into practice, and their willingness to participate. These will be carried out by a member of the team who was not involved in delivery of the training.

## Data Analysis

Quantitative analysis will be conducted using paired t-tests of trainees' before and after scores. We will also analyse the data to address feasibility issues such as levels of non-response, completion rates, discrimination of and within/between variation in outcomes measures. Qualitative data will be analysed using a framework method [89] drawing out themes concerning the usability and acceptability of the training intervention and the facilitators and barriers to transfer of the learning into clinical practice. Framework analysis allows for unexpected themes to emerge from the data whilst also allowing the research team to ask questions of the data which it is felt will best help us generate guidelines relevant to future practice and dissemination [90].

## 6. DISSEMINATION AND PROJECTED OUTPUTS

The focus of this research is on the effective delivery of healthcare for people with dementia through improving the communication skills of the health care professionals working with such patients, thus directly addressing the remit of HS&DR. The research aims to develop and test a standardised training intervention for healthcare professionals using simulation training with actors experienced in delivering communication training in other settings. It is expected that the change produced through the intervention would be generalisable elsewhere, with the prospects of positive change across all acute settings in the NHS. To support this, we will design training resources for online use, as well as face-to-face delivery.

The results from the research will be disseminated through the following methods:

- Interim and final reports
- Best practice guides for HCPs and Speech and Language Therapists (SLTs)
- Conference presentations at HS&DR, British Geriatric Society, Conversation Analysis and Clinical Encounters (CACE) conference
- Peer reviewed journals and healthcare publications

Members of the team have experience of developing reusable learning objects (RLOs) that can be disseminated online. Such resources are suitable for a range of educational uses, including self-directed and blended learning. We will work with our very experienced colleagues in HELM (Health E\_Learning and Media Team) who have produced scores of RLOs to devise an online version of the communication skills training package. This can be disseminated for free via the HELM platform

(<u>http://www.nottingham.ac.uk/helm/resources/learning-objects/rlo-school.aspx</u>) and the University of Nottingham Improving Dementia Education and Awareness (IDEA) web portal.

Members of the team are actively involved in educating HCPs to work in acute settings and will use the communication skills training package in their routine teaching. In addition, once its effectiveness has been demonstrated, we will work with Health Education England, the Strategic Clinical Network for dementia and the East Midlands Academic Health Sciences Network to ensure that the communication skills training package is promoted through their networks and made available through their websites.

We will exploit un-anticipated opportunities to maximise dissemination (such as broadcast and newspapers) and will use social media (blogs and twitter), linking with the communications departments of the University

and NHS trust, the Alzheimer's Society and the BGS. Dissemination of our previous NIHR-funded work has been innovative and successful. We commissioned an award winning documentary on ward-based person centred dementia care, which has been seen by over 1000 HCPs. The same work has been cited in Parliament, subject to 3 appearances on national TV, an article in a national newspaper, and a BMJ video abstract. JS commissioned a play about the experience of dementia (Inside out of Mind, which is about to start a national tour), which is used to support frontline staff training.

The expected knowledge products and outputs from the research will include:

• A profile of effective staff communication behaviour with PWD

• Briefing material and resources for actors who specialise in communication training to enable them to simulate PWD effectively and convincingly in acute healthcare interactions with HCPs

• A training intervention for healthcare staff working with PWD in an acute setting, with accompanying training manual and RLO

• An understanding of whether a ward-level cluster RCT looking at patient-level outcomes is feasible or required

As a proof of concept study, the main output of this research will be knowledge about whether the communication skills training intervention can have an impact on the competencies and confidence of the HCPs who attend the training. It will also show the acceptability and transferability of the training, and whether the research can evolve to further stages of evaluation, such as a ward-level RCT. HCPs in acute settings who care for PWD will be the immediate beneficiaries of the research. Our study has the potential to provide a testable form of training which should demonstrate improvements in communication skills and competencies and confidence in communication with PWD. This should in turn reduce some of the feelings of stress and frustration that are commonly reported by staff working with PWD [11].

We expect our study to also benefit PWD's who require healthcare in an acute setting and their carers. Although the study will not quantitatively assess the impact of the intervention on patient outcomes at this stage of the intervention development, we will explore this in qualitative interviews with trainees and their managers. Further beneficiaries are the NHS employers. This research aims to develop and test a patient focused intervention which is likely to improve patient and carer experience, as well as the ability of NHS staff ability to deliver high quality care.

## 7. PLAN OF INVESTIGATION AND TIMETABLE

The timetable for the project is presented in Appendix 2. The milestones within this timetable are as follows:

### Workpackage 1 (months 0-12)

- M1 Ensure all ethical and local governance approvals in place (month 2).
- M2 Systematic review of communication and dementia updated (month 3).
- M3 Site set up, equipment purchased and researcher familiarised with equipment, ward staff briefed, study documentation in place. HCPs recruited to study. Ready to start recruiting patients (month 3).
- M4 First patient recruited to observational study (month 4).
- M5 All patients recruited and observations completed (month 6).
- M6 Observations completed, transcribed and analysed using CA (month 12).
- M7 Papers on CA submitted for publication (month 15).

#### Workpackage 2 (months 13-18)

M8 Training intervention completed, including writing of actors manual and training intervention manual and production of RLO (month 18).

#### Workpackage 3 (months 19-27)

M9 Local governance approvals in place at both sites (month 18).

- M10 First cohort of HCPs recruited and trained on communication skills (month 19).
- M11 All HCPs trained and followed up (month 24).
- M12 Interviews with HCPs completed (month 27).

## HS&DR Reporting (28-30)

- M13 Best Practice guides published and paper on proof of concept study submitted for publication (month 30).
- M14 Interim report submitted to HS&DR (month 12)
- M15 Final report submitted to HS&DR (month 30).

## 8. PROJECT MANAGEMENT

The chief investigator will assume overall responsibility for day to day management of the project including ethical considerations, scientific rigour of the research and financial control. The project manager will report directly to the chief investigator and will meet on a weekly basis with the clinical researchers to ensure satisfactory progress of the study. During the study there will be 15 project management group meetings and 4 study steering committee meetings.

A project management group (PMG) will be set up and attended by all members of the research team and three PPI representatives (including the PPI co-applicant). Meetings will be held at two monthly intervals throughout the study with informal contact and consultation being maintained between meetings.

Overall supervision for the study on behalf the study sponsor and funder will be provided by a Study Steering Committee (SSC). This will have an independent chair who will have a primary reporting line to the NIHR HS&DR Programme Director. The SSC will include independent clinicians, patient and public representation and appropriate qualitative expertise. The SSC will meet four times over the duration of the study. Quoracy to conduct business will be 67% of appointed members and the SSC will have a minimum of 75% majority of independent members. Observers including representatives of the sponsor and the clinical research network will be invited to attend. Minutes from the meetings will be sent to all members, the sponsor, the funder and the study master file.

Financial management will be overseen by the Institute of Mental Health's Finance Manager. Study conduct will be subject to the systems of audit and controls required by the University of Nottingham's research governance arrangements.

Regular reports will be submitted to the HS&DR as required.

## 9. APPROVAL BY ETHICS COMMITTEE

As this study involves patients, we will need to apply to a Research Ethics Committee (REC) for ethical approval. The REC will judge whether the risks and benefits of participating are acceptable. We envisage no problems with being granted ethical approval because what we are developing is a training intervention to improve how staff communicate with PWD rather than a new drug or procedure. REC will also wish to know that participation is not unduly burdensome, and our design requires very little burden upon the participants or informants. REC also has to decide whether the study is too intrusive, but it has previously permitted similar studies without concern.

Many of the patients recruited to this study will lack capacity to give informed consent. As a team we have extensive experience in training researchers to recruit such patients and the requirements of the Mental Capacity Act 2005 and have successfully recruited and collected data from PWD and the HCPs working with them [66,91,92]. Agreement to participate in research is an on-going process and it is important to confirm that the person with dementia agrees to continue with research irrespective of consent in place [93]. We will use a form of 'process consent' [94] and, irrespective of patients' mental capacity at the time of recruitment, verbal agreement to undertake the observations will be sought from the patient prior to the period of observation.

Patients may be under strain when we recruit them to this study, being approached for research may be considered a burden. Again, we have extensive experience of recruiting patients from hospital wards and have found that the vast majority of patients and their carers are keen to help with this type of research. We have kept data collection to a minimum to reduce the burden and our researchers will be SLT clinicians with experience of working with this patient group.

Researchers themselves may become distressed by events they witness on the wards. However, the clinical researchers working on this study are both experienced SLTs and used to working with patients in distress. Supervision and support will be provided by the clinicians within the research team.

The REC may be concerned about the ethics of videoing patients during the study. Video recording of the interaction between HCPs and PWD is vital for this project in order that both nonverbal and verbal communication can be collected and analysed. Our PPI group have been consulted as part of the preparation of this bid and they agreed that videoing was vital and justified, provided privacy and dignity, consent etc were maintained. We have successfully collected video data in sensitive environments in previous studies [57,87,88].

## **10.PATIENT AND PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT**

During the research study, we aim to ensure that meaningful and active patient and public involvement (PPI) is embedded in relevant research activities to add value and impact to benefit patients and carers. Our approach is based on the principle that PPI is a continuous process throughout the research cycle.

To make PPI effective necessitates a whole organisation perspective and supportive infrastructure, with serious commitment from the research team. To achieve the benefits associated with meaningful and comprehensive PPI, the project manager will be appointed as PPI Co-ordinator to achieve this approach across the project. An existing PPI group member is a co-applicant and will be the first point of contact for all other PPI members. The PPI co-applicant has experience of working with members of the research team on previous studies and in the preparation of this bid, and will work closely with the project manager to ensure that carers' and patients' voices are heard throughout the research project.

The project manager and PPI co-applicant will work closely with our PPI group which has been developed over the last 18 months to make an informed and effective contribution to our research, and is supported by a facilitator to ensure a properly governanced approach. Most of the members of the group are carers of people with dementia, with first-hand experience of communication between staff and patients. We will provide opportunities for our PPI group to actively contribute to aspects of the research including: development of materials for participants (patients and carers); recruitment of participants; design of the communication training intervention; the training of actors; interpretation of research findings; the development of effective communication processes to disseminate the research.

Our carer co-applicant will ensure that these activities are properly managed and implemented. The members of our PPI group regularly receive training. The group supports the individual members and the facilitator is available to provide additional support.

### References

1. Royal College of Psychiatrists. National Audit of Dementia Care in General Hospitals 2012-13: Second round audit report and update. Editors: Young J, Hood C, Gandesha A and Souza R. London: HQIP; 2013. http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/pdf/NAD%20NATIONAL%20REPORT%202013.pdf (accessed 28 January 2014)

2. Ripich DN, Wykle M, Niles S. Alzheimer's disease caregivers: the FOCUSED program. Geriatric Nursing 1995; 16(1): 15-19.

3. Department of Health. Living well with dementia: A National Dementia Strategy. London: Department of Health; 2009.

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/168220/dh\_094051.pdf (accessed 28 January 2014)

4. Royal College of Psychiatrists. Who Cares Wins. Improving the Outcome for Older People Admitted to the General Hospital: Guideline for the development of liaison health services for older people. London: Royal College of Psychiatrists; 2005.

5. Bartlett G, Blais R, Tamblyn R, Clermont RJ, MacGibbon B. Impact of patient communication problems on the risk of preventable adverse events in acute care settings. Canadian Medical Association Journal 2008; 178(12): 1555-1562.

6. Dickey L, Kagan A, Lindsay MP, Fang J, Rowland A, Black S. Incidence and profile of inpatient stroke induced aphasia in Ontario, Canada. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 2010; 91: 196-202.

7. Wee JY, Hopman WM. Stroke impairment predictors of discharge function, length of stay, and discharge destination in stroke rehabilitation. American Journal of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 2005; 84(8): 604-12.

8. Gialanella B. Aphasia assessment and functional outcome prediction in patients with aphasia after stroke. Journal of Neurology 2011; 258: 343-349.

9. Alzheimers Society. Counting the cost: Caring for people with dementia on hospital wards. London: Alzheimers Society; 2009.

10. Cowdell F. The Care of Older People with Dementia in Acute Hospitals Summary Report. Bournemouth: Bournemouth University; 2007.

http://eprints.bournemouth.ac.uk/11683/1/Care\_of\_Older\_People\_9Jan07.pdf (Accessed 29 January 2014)

11. Edberg A-K, Bird M, Richards DA, Woods R, Keeley P, Davis-Quarrell V. Strain in nursing care of people with dementia: Nurses' experience in Australia, Sweden and United Kingdom. Aging and Mental Health 2008; 12(2): 236-243.

12. Ekman SL, Norberg A. The autonomy of demented patients: interviews with caregivers. Journal of Medical Ethics 1988; 14(4): 184-187.

13. Holst G, Edberg A-K, Hallberg IR. Nurses' narrations and reflections about caring for patients with severe dementia as revealed in systematic clinical supervision sessions. Journal of Aging Studies 1999; 13(1): 89-107.

14. Department of Health. The Report of the public enquiry into children's heart surgery at the Bristol Royal Infirmary 1984-1995: learning from Bristol.CM5207. London: Stationary Office; 2001.

15. Department of Health. Building a safer NHS for patients. London: Department of Health; 2001.

16. Department of Health. Report of the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust Public Inquiry Volumes 1-3, HC-898-I-III. London: Stationary Office; 2013.

17. Department of Health. Patients First and Foremost: The Initial Government Response to the Report of the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust Public Inquiry. London: Stationary Office; 2013.

18. Eggenberger E, Heimerl K, Bennett MI. Communication Skills Training in Dementia Care: A Systematic Review of Effectiveness, Training Content and Didactic Methods in Different Care Settings. International Psychogeriatrics 2013; 25(3): 345-358.

19. Skills for Care and Skills for Health. Common Core Principles for Supporting People with Dementia. Leeds: Skills for Care and Skills for Health; 2011. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/215562/dh\_127587.pdf (accessed 28 January 2014)

20. Skills for Care and Skills for Health. National Minimum Training Standards for Healthcare Support Workers and Adult Social Care Workers in England. Leeds: Skills for Care and Skills for Health; 2013. http://www.skillsforhealth.org.uk/component/docman/doc\_download/2247-nationalminimum-trainingstandards. html (accessed 28 January 2014)

21. Berkhof M, van Rijssen HJ, Schellart AJM, Anema JR, van der Beek AJ. Effective training strategies for teaching communication skills to physicians: An overview of systematic reviews. Patient Education and Counseling 2011; 84(2): 152-162.

22. Chant S, Jenkinson T, Randle J, Russell G, Webb C. Communication skills training in healthcare: a review of the literature. Nurse Education Today 2002; 22(3): 189-202

23. Lewin S, Skea Z, Entwistle VA, Zwarenstein M, Dick J. Interventions for providers to promote a patient centred approach in clinical consultations. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2001, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD003267. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003267.

24. Moore PM, Rivera Mercado S, Grez Artigues M, Lawrie TA. Communication skills training for healthcare professionals working with people who have cancer. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2013, Issue 3. Art. No.: CD003751. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003751.pub3

25. Williams K. Improving outcomes of nursing home interactions. Research in Nursing and Health, 2006; 29: 121–133. doi: 10.1002/nur.20117

26. Burgio L, Stevens A, Burgio K, Roth D, Paul P, Gerstle J. Teaching and Maintaining Behavior Management Skills in the Nursing Home. The Gerontologist, 2002; 42 (4): 487-496 doi:10.1093/geront/42.4.487

27. Small JA, Gutman G, Makela S, Hillhouse B. Effectiveness of communication strategies used by caregivers of persons with Alzheimer's disease during activities of daily living. Journal of Speech, Language and Hearing Research 2003; 46(2): 353–367.

28. Small JA, Perry J. Do you remember? How caregivers question their spouses who have Alzheimer's Disease and the impact on communication. Journal of Speech, Language and Hearing Research 2005; 48(1): 125-136.

29. Small JA, Kemper S, Lyons K. Sentence comprehension in Alzheimer's disease: effects of grammatical complexity, speech rate and repetition. Psychology and Aging 1997; 12(1): 3-11.

30. Tomoeda CK, Bayles KA, Boone DR, Kaszniak AW, Slauson TJ. Speech rate and syntactic complexity effects on the auditory comprehension of Alzheimer patients. J Commun Disord. 1990 Apr;23(2):151-61.

31. Kemper S, Harden T. Experimentally disentangling what's beneficial about elderspeak from what's not. Psychol Aging. 1999 Dec;14(4):656-70.

32. Alzheimer's Society (2013) Factsheet: Communicating Available at <a href="http://www.alzheimers.org.uk/site/scripts/download\_info.php?fileID=1789">http://www.alzheimers.org.uk/site/scripts/download\_info.php?fileID=1789</a>

33. NHS Choices website (2014) Communicating with people with dementia ". <u>www.nhs.uk/conditions/dementia-guide/pages/dementia-and-communication.aspx</u>

34. Tappen RM, Williams-Burgess C, Edelstein J, Touhy T, Fishman S. Communicating with individuals with Alzheimer's disease: examination of recommended strategies. Arch Psychiatr Nurs. 1997 Oct;11(5):249-56.

35. Rochon E, Waters GS, Caplan D. The relationship between measures of working memory and sentence comprehension in patients with Alzheimer's disease. J Speech Lang Hear Res. 2000 Apr;43(2):395-413.

36. Savundranayagam M, Ryan E, Anas A, Orange J. Communication and Dementia: Staff Perceptions of Conversational Strategies. Clinical Gerontologist, 2007; 31(2): 47-63.

37. Vitaliano PP, Young HM, Russo J, Romano J, Magana-Amato A. Does expressed emotion in spouses predict subsequent problems among care recipients with Alzheimer's disease? J Gerontol. 1993 Jul;48(4):P202-9.

38. Gerontological Society of America. Communicating With Older Adults: An Evidence-Based Review of What Really Works. 2012. [Accessed 26 June.2014]

39. Parry R. Are interventions to enhance communication performance in allied health professionals effective, and how should they be delivered? Direct and indirect evidence. Patient Education and Counseling 2008; 73(2): 186-195.

40. Schegloff EA. Sequence organisation in interaction: A primer in Conversation Analysis, volume 1. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2007.

41. Sidnell J. Conversation analysis: An introduction. London: Wiley-Blackwell; 2010.

42. Heritage J, Maynard D. Problems and prospects in the study of physician-patient interaction: 30 years of research. Annual Review of Sociology 2006; 32: 351-74.

43. Beeke S, Maxim J, Wilkinson R. Using conversation analysis to assess and treat people with aphasia. Seminars in Speech and Language 2007; 28(2): 136-147.

44. McCabe R, Heath C, Burns T, Priebe S. Engagement of patients with psychosis in the consultation: conversation analysis study. British Medical Journal 2002; 325: 1148-1151.

45. McCabe R, Priebe S. Communication and psychosis: it's good to talk, but how? The British Journal of Psychiatry 2008; 192: 404-405.

46. Heritage J, Robinson JD, Elliott MN, Beckett M, Wilkes M. Reducing Patients' Unmet Concerns in Primary Care: the Difference One Word can Make. Journal of General Internal Medicine 2007; 22(10):1429-33.

47. Royal College of Physicians Intercollegiate Stroke Working Party. National Clinical Guidelines for stroke. 3rd Ed. London: Royal College of Physicians. 2008.

48. Simmons-Mackie, N., & Kagan, A. (1999). Communication strategies used by good versus poor speaking partners of individuals with aphasia. *Aphasiology 13:* 807-820.

49. Kagan A, Black S, Felson Duchan J, Simmons-Mackie N, Square P. Training volunteers as conversation partners using "Supported Conversation for Adults with Aphasia" (SCA): A controlled trial. Journal of Speech, Language and Hearing Research 2001; 44: 624-638.

50. Legg C, Young L, Bryer A. Training sixth-year medical students in obtaining case-history information from adults with aphasia. Aphasiology 2005; 19(6): 559-575.

51. Parry R. Giving reasons for doing something now, or at some other time Research on Language and Social Interaction 2013; 46, 2:105-124.

52. Fellowes D, Wilkinson S, Moore P. Communication skills training for health care professionals working with cancer patients, their families and/or carers. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2004;(2):CD003751.

53. Fallowfield L, Jenkins V, Farewell V, Saul J, Duffy A, Eves R.Efficacy of a Cancer Research UK communication skills training model for oncologists: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2002 Feb 23;359(9307):650-6. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11879860</u>

54. Maguire P, Booth K, Elliott C, Jones B Helping health professionals involved in cancer care acquire key interviewing skills--the impact of workshops. Eur J Cancer. 1996 Aug;32A(9):1486-9. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8911106

55. Wilkinson S, Perry R, Blanchard K, Linsell L. Effectiveness of a three-day communication skills course in changing nurses' communication skills with cancer/palliative care patients: a randomised controlled trial. Palliat Med. 2008 Jun;22(4):365-75. doi: 10.1177/0269216308090770. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18541641

56. Hulsman RL, Visser A. Seven challenges in communication training: learning from research. Patient Educ Couns. 2013 Feb;90(2):145-6. doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2012.12.005

57. Parry RH. The interactional management of patients' physical incompetence: a conversation analytic study of physiotherapy interactions. Sociology of Health and Illness 2004;26(7):976-1007.

58. Heritage J. Questioning in medicine. In: Freed A, Ehrlich S, editors. 'Why do you ask?': The Function of Questions in Institutional Discourse: Oxford University Press 2009:42-68.

59. Heritage J. The interaction order and clinical practice: Some observations on dysfunctions and action steps Patient Education and Counseling 2011;84:338-43.

60. Robinson JD, Hoover DR, Venetis MK, Kearney TJ, Street RL. Consultations Between Patients With Breast Cancer and Surgeons: A Pathway From Patient-Centered Communication to Reduced Hopelessness. Journal of Clinical Oncology 2013;31(3):351-58.

61. Perkins L, Whitworth A, Lesser R. Conversing in dementia: A conversation analytic approach. Journal of Neurolinguistics, 1998;11(1-2): 33–52.

62. Kindell J, Sage K, Keady J, Wilkinson R. Adapting to conversation with semantic dementia: using enactment as a compensatory strategy in everyday social interaction. International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders, 2013; 48(5): 497–507. doi:10.1111/1460-6984.12023

63. Brooker, D. Person-centred dementia care. Making services better. London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers. 2007.

64. Horton S, Howell A, Humby K, Ross A Engagement and learning: an exploratory study of situated practice in multi-disciplinary stroke rehabilitation. Disability and Rehabilitation 2011; 33(3); 270-279.

65. Gladman JRF, Harwood RH, Foster PER, Goldberg S, Davies O. Today is Monday – the evidence basebehind a film about the care of people with dementia and delirium in hospital. Medical Crises in OlderPeople Discussion Paper. Series 13. 2014. http://nottingham.ac.uk/mcop/documents/papers/issue13-mcop-issn2044-4230.pdf

66. Goldberg S, Bradshaw L, Kearney F, Russell C, Whittamore K, Foster P, Mamza J, Jones R, Lewis S, Porock D and Harwood R. Care in specialist medical and mental health unit compared with standard care for older people with cognitive impairment admitted to general hospital: randomised controlled trial (NIHR TEAM trial). BMJ, 2013; 347:f4132.

67. Beeke S, Sirman N, Beckley F, Maxim J, Edwards S, Swinburn K, Best W. (2013). Better Conversations with Aphasia: an e-learning resource. Available at: <u>https://extend.ucl.ac.uk/</u>

68. Addenbrookes Cognitive Examanination (ACE-iii). http://egret.psychol.cam.ac.uk/camcops/documentation/tasks/ace3.html. (accessed 27 June 2014).

69. Reuber M, Monzoni C, Sharrack B, Plug L. Using interactional and linguistic analysis to distinguish between epilepsy and psychogenic nonepileptic seizures: A prospective blinded multirater study. Epilepsy

and Behaviour 2009;16(1):139-144.

70. Heritage J, Robinson JD. 'Some' vs 'Any' Medical Issues: Encouraging Patients to Reveal Their Unmet Concerns. In: Antaki C. (ed.) Applied Conversation Analysis: Changing Institutional Practices. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan; 2011. p15-31.

71. Parry R. Video-based conversation analysis. In: Bourgeault I, DeVries R, Dingwall R, editors. Sage Handbook of Qualitative Methods in Health Research. London: Sage, 2010:373-96.

72. Simmons-Mackie N, Raymer A, Armstrong E, Holland A, Cherney L.R. Communication partner training in aphasia: A systematic review. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 2010; 91: 1814-1837.

73. Bandura A, Adams NE, Beyer J. Cognitive processes mediating behavioral change. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 1977;35: 125-139.

74. Becker KB, Rose LE, Berg JB, Park H, and Shatzer JH. The teaching effectiveness of standardized patients. Journal of Nursing education, 2006; 45(4): 103-111.

75. Weaver M, Erby L. Standardized patients: A promising tool for health education and health promotion. Health Promotion Practice, 2012; 13: 169-174.

76. Erby LA, Roter DL, Biesecker BB. Examination of standardized patient performance: accuracy and consistency of six standardized patients over time. Patient Education and Counselling. 2011; 85: 194-200.

77. Wallace, P. (2007) Coaching standardized patients: for use in the assessment of clinical competence. New York. NY: Springer.

78. Stokoe E. Simulated interaction and communication skills training: The 'Conversation Analytic Role-play Method'. In: Antaki C, editor. Applied Conversation Analysis: Changing Institional Practices. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, 2011.

79. Robson L, Shannon H, Goldenhar L, Hale A. Quasi-experimental and experimental designs: more powerful evaluation designs (Chapter 4) and Chapter 8 Statistical issues. Guide to Evaluating the Effectiveness of Strategies for Preventing Work Injuries - How to show whether a safety intervention really works. Cincinnati OH. USA: Department of Health and Human Services.

80. Back A, Arnold R, Baile W, Fryer-Edwards K, Alexander S, Barley G, Gooley T, Tulsky J. Efficacy of Communication Skills Training for Giving Bad News and Discussing Transitions to Palliative Care. Archives of Internal Medicine. 2007;167(5):453-460.

81. Allen-Burge R, Stevens AB, Burgio LD. Effective behavioral interventions for decreasing dementia-related challenging behavior in nursing homes. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 1999 Mar;14(3):213-28; discussion 228-32. Review.

82. Ripich DN. Functional communication with AD patients: a caregiver training program. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord. 1994;8 Suppl 3:95-109.

83. Medical Research Council. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: new guidance. London: MRC; 2008. www.mrc.ac.uk/complexinterventionsguidance (accessed 28 January 2014).

84. Horton S, Byng SB, K, Pring T. Teaching and learning speech and language therapy skills: the effectiveness of classroom as clinic in speech and language therapy student education. International Journal of Language and Communication Disorders 2004;39(3):365-90.

85. Chady B, Bird L, Broadhurst D, Watson S, Arthur A, Faull C. Evaluation Toolkit: a project to assess outcomes of End of Life Care learning events. Project report. University of Nottingham. Available by email request evaluationtoolkit@notttingham.ac.uk, 2012.

86. Downing SM. Validity: on the meaningful interpretation of assessment data. Med Educ. 2003; 37(9):830-837.

87. Beeke S, Beckley F, Johnson F, Heilemann C, Edwards S, Maxim J, Best W. Conversation focused aphasia therapy: Investigating the adoption of strategies by people with agrammatism. Aphasiology, 2014; <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02687038.2014.881459</u>

88. Beeke S, Johnson F, Beckley F, Heilemann C, Edwards S, Maxim J, Best W. Enabling better conversations between a man with aphasia and his conversation partner: incorporating writing into turntaking. *Research on Language and Social Interaction,* (in press).

89 Gale NK, Heath G, Cameron E, Rashid S. Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. BMC Medical Research Methodology 2013; 13: 117.

90. Green J, Thorogood N. Qualitative methods for health research. London: Sage Publications. 2004.

91. Griffiths A, Knight, A, Harwood RH, Gladman JRFG. Preparation to care for confused older patients in general hospitals: A study of UK health professionals. Age and Ageing 2013 0: 1-7 doi: 10.1093/ageing/aft171

92. Spencer K, Foster P, Whittamore K, Goldberg S, Harwood R. Delivering Dementia Care Differently. Evaluating the differences and similarities between a specialist medical and mental health unit and standard care wards: A qualitative study of family carers' perceptions of quality of care. BMH Open. 2013; 3:e004198. Doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2013-004198 Available at: <u>http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/3/12/e004198.short</u>

93. McCormack B. The person of the voice: narrative identities in informed consent. Nursing Philosophy. 2002;3:114-9.

94. McKeown J, Clarke A, Ingleton C, Repper J. Actively involving people with dementia in qualitative research. J Clin Nurs. 2010;19 (13-14):1935-43.

#### Appendix .1 Flow chart



#### Project Reference Number 13/114/93

## Appendix 2. Gantt chart

	М	Months																												
	1	1 2	3	4	. 5	5 6	7	7 8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30
Research Governance																														
Project Management Meetings	х		х		х		х		х		х		х		х		х		х		х		х		х		х		х	
Study Steering Committee meetings	х									х										х										х
Ethical and local governance approvals		M1																												
Workpackage One																														
Update systematic review			M2																											
Study set up and recruitment of HCPs			M3																											
Recruitment of patients				M4		M5																								
Data collection and transcription																														
CAanalysis												M6																		
Writing of paper															M7															
Workpackage Two																														
Development of training intervention																														
Writing of actors and training manual																														
Production of RLO																		M8												
Workpackage Three																														
Local governance approvals																		M9												
Recruitment and training of HCPs																			M10	0										
Follow up of HCPs																								<b>M1</b>	1					
Interviews of HCPs																														
Qualitative analysis of interviews																														
Write up proof of concept study																														M1
Write best practice guides																														M1
HS&DR reporting																														
HS&DR interim report												M1	4																	
HS&DR final report																														M1

M1 ethical and local approvals in place M2 systematic review updated M3 NUH site set up wards briefed and HCPs recruited. M4 first patient recruited to study M5 last patient recruited to study M6 CA analysis completed M7 papers from WP1 written and submitted M8 training intervention developed including actors and training manual RLO M9 local governance approvals in place M10 First cohort of HCPs recruited and trained. M11 All HCPs trained and followed up. M12 Proof of concept submitted for publication M13 Best practice guide published M14 interim report submitted to HS&DR M15 Final report submitted to HS&DR